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JESSE M. FURMAN, United States District Judge:
[Regarding the Cooper Plaintiffs’ Motions To RemovelLead Counsel
and for Reconsideation of the Order Establishing the Qualified SettlementFund,
and the Hilliard and Henry Firms’ Motion for a Protective Order |
This multidistrict litigation (“MDL”), generaffamiliarity with which is presumed, relates
to highly publicized defects in certain General Mo(6&M”) branded vehicles and associated
vehicle recalls.The MDL includes putative class actions seeking to recover for economic losses
allegedly sustainedytcertain GM car owners and approximately 3,000 individual personal
injury or wrongful death claims. As is common in litigation of this scale and complexzity
on in the process, the Court appointed plaintiffs’ lawyers to leadership positions,ngdiudie
lawyers as Cd.ead Counsel — Steve W. Berman, Elizabeth J. Cabraser, and Robert C. Hilliard
— and ten other lawyers to an Executive Committee. The Court directed Berm@alanader
to focus on economic class claims and Hilliard to focus on personal injury and wrdegfil
claims, but the three have, in most respects, acted as a team. As a team, theylaintiftee p
lawyers answering to them have accomplished a massive amount in a resdtorélgmount of
time: In little more than a yeand a half, they have taken or defendedrthreehundred
depositionsreviewedor produced millions of pages of documents; briefed dozens of discovery-

related issuesnd brought or opposed close to fiityimine, summary judgment, aridaubert

motions for two trials held in January and Macéhhis year. (Decl. Robert C. Hilliard Supp.
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Co-Lead Counsel’'s Mem. Opp’n (Docket No. 2206) (“Hilliard Decl.’§;IDecl. Steve W.
Berman Supp. Co-Lead Counsel's Mem. Opp’n (Docket No. 2204) (“Berman De4).”)

All appeared tde going smoothly for the MDL plaintiffs (and in the MDL as a whole)
until January, when the first “bellwether” personal injury case went to @alJanuary 22,
2016, afteit came to light that the Plaintiff in that case, Robert Scheuer, may have committed
perjury and fraud, the case was voluntarily dismissed. The next business day, adfandful
plaintiffs represented by attorney Lance Cooper (the “Cooper Pldiptdfse of the lawyers
appointed to the Plaintiffs’ Executive Committéiéed a Motion To Remove Lead Counsel,
initially seeking to remove all thréead Counsel, but later clarifying that they sought the
removal only of Hilliard. Pls.” Mot. To Remove CeLeads& Reconsider Bellsther Trial
Schedule (Docket No. 2179) (“CoaqPls.” RemovalMem”); PIs’ Reply Br. Resp. Ch-ead
Counsel’'s Mem. Opp’n (Docket No. 2243) (“Cooper Pls.” Reply”)). A few days later, the
Cooper Plaintiffs followed with a Motion for Reconsideration of the Order Approtiag t
Establishment of the 2018ew GM Ignition Switch Qualified Settlement Fund, essentially
seeking to undo an agreement between Hilliard and General Motors LLC GNEwto settle
the claims of apximately 1,380 [aintiffs represented by Hilliard.P{s.” Mot. To Reconsider
Order Approving Establishment of 2015 New GM Ignition Switch Qualified Settlement Fund
(Docket No. 2182f“CooperPIs.’ QSFMem.”)). In their motions, the Cooper Plaintiffs maae
number ofserious allegations against Hilliard, accusing him of, at best, mism@eng and, at
worst, self-dealing.

On Februay 10, 2016, the Court issued a “bottdime” Order denying th&€ooper
Plaintiffs’ motions on the ground that they were “patently untimely,” fell “short of meétiag

rigorous standards applicable to motionsrémonsideration,” and ultimately amounted to little



more than “Monday morning quarterbacking’ that did “not even come close to providing a
legal basis for the drastic step of removing Lead Counsel.” (Order No. 95 (Dack2268) at
1-2). Inits Orcer, the Court promised to issue an opinion providing “a more detailed analysis”
of the issues raised by the Cooper Plaintiffs’ motions “in due courke.at(4). This is that
Opinion. It provides a more detailed explanation of why the Cooper Plsliatificks missed
their mark and why theimotions were denied. It also addresses a related motion that was not
fully briefed when the Court issued its bottdime Order— namey, a motion filed by Hilliard
and cecounsel seeking entry of a protective order prohibiting Coapérothersrom contacting
their clients “in violation of Rule 4.2 of the New York Rules of Professional Conduct.” @ock
No. 2258). For the reasons explained below, that motion islatsed
BACKGROUND

A. Plaintiffs’ Counsel Leadership Appointments and Duties

Som after the establishment tfis MDL, the Court issued Order No.establishinga
leadershipstructurefor plaintiffs’ counseland inviting applications for those positiongeé
Order No. 5 (Docket No. 70)). On August 15, 2014, followimgweew of the applications and
an opportunity for the applicants to be heard, the Court appointed Berman, Cabrasdhlaatd H
as Colead Counsel; appointed Robin L. Greenwald and Dawn Mid3aas Plaintiff Liaison
Counsel and Federal/State Liaison Counsel, respectadlyappointeten attorneys —
including Cooper — to thBlaintiffs Executive Committee.SeeOrder No. 8 (Docket No. 249),
at3). That Order expressly noted that thppointments are personal in nature. That is,
although the Court anticipates that appointees will draw on the resources of tgitiir co-
counsel, and their co-counsel’s firms, each appointee is personally responsitdedoties and

responsibilites that he or she assumesld.), Order No. 8 also directed counsel to confer and



submit a proposal with respect to an order delineating the duties of the leaderslopgoit
at 34).

Thereatfter, the responsibilities of counsel were discussed at the Sepe2dd4 status
conference, and memorialized in Order Nos. 12 and 38eGeneral Motors LLC’s Combined
Response Moffo Remove Cea_eads& To Reconsider Bellwether Trial Schedule (Docket No.
2200) (‘New GM’sOpp’n”) 2 n.3; Order No. 12 (Docket No. 296), at 5-6; Order No. 13 (Docket
No. 304)). In particular,Order No. 13 detagldthe respective duties @fo-Lead Counsel, the
two Liaison Counsels, and the Executive Committ&eeQrder No. 13, at 7). That Order
statecthat “Lead Counsel will be responsible for prosecuting any potential common benefit
claims, as well as coordinating the pretrial proceedings conducted by ctmurtkel individual
Plaintiffs” (ld. at 1-2). Suchresponsibility included the duty to “cabnate the initiation and
conduct of discovery on behalf of the Plaintiffs”; “delegate specific taskiéw obunsel in a
manner to ensure that pretrial preparation for the Plaintiffs is conductedvetfeafficiently
and economically”; and “organize themselves and agree on a plan for conductinglittenMD
behalf of all Plaitiffs.” (ld. at 2). “In performing these duties as Lead Counsel,” Order No. 13
continued, “Mr. Berman and Ms. Cabraser will focus on economic claissschnd Mr. Hilliard
will focus on individual Plaintiffs” (that is, personal injury and wrongful death elairgd. at
4). To the extent relevant here, the Order @somerated various “duties and responsibilities”
of the Executive Committee, including the need to assist Lead<@! in various ways.Id at
5-7).

OrderNo. 13furtherreminded counsel thafd]ll attorneys have an obligation to keep
themselves informed about the litigation so that they can best representgbedtike clients

(See, e.g.id. at 810). Order No. 12 memorialized the process, discussed at the September 2014



status conference, fanyplaintiffs’ counsel to raise issues with the Court if counsel felt that
Lead Counselvas unable adequately to represkistor herviewsat any status conferencéSee
Order No. 12, at 697 The Order made clear that Lead Counsel was expected to take the lead in
speaking on behalf of all plaintiffs and that, barring permission, would be the onlyettmns
speak at conferences on behalplaiintiffs. See id). Nevertheless, the Order provided a means
by which any other plaintiffs’ counsel could be heard. Specifically, if coundéhdt feel that
Lead Counsel [could] adequately represent their views,” counsel was iaekitedo put issues
on the agenda for a particular status conference via Lead Counsel and counserfdaiiedr
to submit a letter motion to the Court requesting permission to be héaid. (
B. The Bellwether Trial Selection Procesand Discovery

The parties’ agenda for the Octot®, 2014 status conference included a proposéhéor
selection of cases to be tried as “bellwettie(SeeDocket No. 325).Thereafter, dllowing
submissions on proposed bellwether orders, the Court issued Order No. 25 on November 19,
2014. GeeOrder No. 25 (Docket No. 42R)ThatOrder set forth the bellwether trial plan for
MDL cases involving personal injury and wrongful death clainid. a 3). The Order laid out
the eligibility criteria and selection process for choosing what would atigily be six bellwether
cases to be tried. The process involved an initial selection of eighteemsaseghich the
parties would engage tasespecific fact discoverysgeid. at 45, 9-14); the selection of fivef
those cases by each party to beepbal®Early Trial Casées(seeid. at 1415); and the exercise

of two strikes by each party on the other’s list, resulting in six Early Taaes to proceed to



expert discovery and, presumptively, trisé¢id. at 15)! In accordance with that procgtead
Counsel and New GMachsubmitted their initial lists of cases on February 17, 26&6 (
Docket Nos. 589, 590); narrowed the pool on June 24, 2HéDcket Nos. 1074, 1075); and
exercised their respectigtrikes on July 1, 2015éeDocket Nos1110, 1114)leaving Six
bellwether caseockram ScheuerandYingling selected byplaintiffs, andBarthelemy/Spain
Norville, andReid selected by New GM

Of thesix cases selected as bellwethers, Hilliard represented the plaintiff or fdaimtif
five. The only exception wagingling in which the Raintiff is represented by Victor Pribanic, a
lawyer from Pittsburgh, Pennsylvanig&SegCooper Pls.RemovalMem. 11; Docket Nos. 589,
590). In advance of the bellwether selection, Hilliaetlapproached Pribanic at least twice
(once through an associate) abHilliard’s participating in any trial irYingling and there was
some discussion about sharing fees, butardbdemurred. SeeCooper PIs.” Reply, Ex. 6
(“Pribanic Decl.”){17-8; Hilliard Decl.{13-16). On July 27, 2015 -with Pribanic still
representing thBlaintiff in Yingling— Lead Counsel and New Gptoposed that the cases be
tried in the following oder:Yingling Barthelemy/SpairScheuerReid Cockram thenNorville.
(SeeDocket No. 1211 By memorandum endorsement entered the next day, the Court adopted
that ordering. (Docket No. 12)1.7

That same day, Hilliard flew to Pittsburgh and mabanic for dinner. SeePribanic
Decl.119-10). According to Pribanithey “discussed the merits ¥ingling” but Hilliard

“never broached the notion” of trying the case togethiek.§(9). In a telephone call a few days

! Order No. 34 further refined the selection process by specifying the gedligi®le for

inclusion in the initial case pool and the categorization of typpsrsbnalinjury or wrongful
death clails. SeeOrder No. 34 (Docket No. 61)0)



later, on August 1, 2015, however, Hilliard told Pribanic “he was thinking how [they] could
handle the lawyers’ fee if [they] tried the case together” and proposed thaliite the fees —
Pribanic “understood equally” +the case went to trial.ld.  10). On August 3, 2015,
Pribanicsent a letter to Hilliard via-mail stating, in relevant part as follows:

| have been thinking of your kind offer to try this case with me. First, |

want to thank you for, however it occurred, putting it first in line. Itis

obviously a tremendous opportunity for our client and a case that |
absolutely relish the prospect of trying, albeit it with a bit of trepidation.

| trust that | can count on you as lead counsel for the personal injury cases

in this MDL to assist in any way possible arfttameeting you | am

confident that | can do so but | am at a complete loss as to how both of us

could try this case —+cannot see me second seating you anymore than

you would want to second seat me in a trial. | have agonized over some

way to split itup and | have no solution short of going it alone, with your

good help, and that of my colleagues here at the office and putting my

head down and getting to work immediately.
(Pribanic Decl., Ex. 1seeid. § 11; Hilliard Decl. § 19). Two days later, Lead Counsel filed a
letter requestinghatYinglingbe moved to fifth in the bellwether trial schedule, Scteuebe
movedto the first trial spot. [focket No. 1229seePribanic Declf 12 Hilliard Decl. §120-23.
The Court, unaware that there might be any backstory behind what appeared to be a routine
requestadopted this proposal on August 7, 201SegDocket No. 1239).

Pribanic and Lead Counsel continued to discuss the order of the bellwether trials.
(Pribanic Decl{Y14-14 Hilliard Decl. 124-27. Pribanic objected to placingnglingso late
in the bellwether trial order, and indicated that he would lodge his objections witlotine
(SeePribanic Decl, Exs. 3-6). Pribanic went so far as to prepare a motion requesting that the
Court moveYinglingback to the first bellwether slot, but he did not file the motion because Lead

Counsel, “at [his] request, ultimately agreed to ask this Court to Miogingto position

number three.” I(l. 1 17). On November 11, 2015, Lead Counsatie that request, askitmy



swapYinglingandCockramto makeYinglingtrial three (SeeDocket No. 1663) At the status
conference on November 20, 2015 — as memorialized in Order No. 86 — the Court granted
Lead Counsel’s request over New GM’s objectimakirg the final order of bellwether cases
ScheuerBarthelemy/Spainyingling Reid Cockram thenNorville. (SeeOrder No. 86 Docket
No. 1772)).

In preparation for the bellwether trials (and as part of pretrial discovethid MDL
cases generally), thep@s conducted a tremendous amount of discovery in less than a year and
a half. As of the clge of briefing on these motions — which fell in between the first and second
bellwether trials— the partiehad reviewed and produced millions of pages of danuméee
New GM'sOpp’n4; Co-Lead Counsel’'s Mem. Opp’n Lance Cooper’s Miai.Remove Ce
Lead Counsel & Reconsideration of Order Approving Qualified Settlement Fundgdok
2201) (“LC’s Opp’n”) 1); taken or defended over three hundred depositions, including thirty-
eight expert depositions¢eNew GM’s Opp’n 4, 8; LC’s Opp’n 1; Hilliard Decl.4f Berman
Decl. 4); attended and presented arguments at thirteen status confeseebisy GM’s
Mem. 5); and participated in over two hundred meet anfece 6eeL.C’s Opp’'n6). (Since the
motions were fully briefed, those numbers have only increased.) With respecSththeand
Barthelemy/Spaigase alone — the only ignition switch cases to go to trial thus faine—
parties filed and briefed ovédorty motionsin limine, two substantial summary judgment
motiors, twoDaubertmotions, two motions (or the equivalent) with respeth&admissibility
of “Other Similar Incident” evidencend a motion for judgment as a matter of law, resulting in
appoximatelytwentyopinions of the Court. SeeDocket Nos. 1727, 1770, 1791, 1825, 1837,

1894, 1968, 1969, 1970, 1980, 1993, 2362, 2400, 2448, 2486, 2729



C. Settlement Negotiations

As the partiegngaged in pretrial discovery and motion pracsoeesettement
discussions were, unsurprisingly, proceeding on a parallel track. On September 17, 2015, Ne
GM, Hilliard Munoz Gonzalez LLP, and Thomas J. Henry Injury Attorneys filedré lgiter
notifying the Court that they had “entered into a Confidential Memorandum of Unaténgan
which approximately 1,380 post-Bankruptcy personal injury and wrongful death claimant
represented by [Hilliard and Henry] may be eligible to participate in aregggr settlement.”
(Docket No. 1368).The settlement was digssedon the recordt the October 9, 2015 status
conference. §eeOct. 9, 2015 Hr'g Tr. (Docket No 1519) 42-47). And on October 14, 2015, the
involvedparties filed a motion to appoint two Special Masters to oversee the settleBeat. (
Docket No. 1499). On October 20, 2015, the Court held a conference call with the parties to
discuss the Special Masters and the settlement fund generally, in preparatvbrch the
parties submitted theMemorandum of Understanding (“MOU”) under st&althe Court’s
review. SeeDocket Nos. 1509, 1518ee alsdocket No. 2391 (holding th#te Memorandum
of Understanding and other documents could remain und@y.s€hé parties filed a motion to
establisha Qualified Settlement Fund (“QSFt9 fadlitate the settlemerdn December 4, 2015.
(SeeDocket No. 1798). On December 11, 2015, the Court granted both motions, appointing the
Special Masters and establishing the QSFeeDocket Nos. 1853, 1854).
D. The First Bellwether Trial and the Instant Motions

The Scheuetrial begamas scheduled on January 11, 2016. Before and duririgahe
the Court developed various procedures for addressing disputes and ruled on disputes with
respect to demonstratives, deposition designateordkey pieces of evidence (such as the

Valukas Reporéindthe Statement of Faciggmong others.See, e.g.Docket Nos. 2018, 2019,



2143, 2147). On January 18, 2016, New GM filed a motion (originally under seal) to introduce
new evidence and witnesses, amdecall Lisa Scheuerin light of allegations thater husband,
Plaintiff Robert Scheuehad altered a check and given misleading testimony regaethmogng
other things, the connection betweendrashandhis inability to move into his family’s “dream
house.” SeeDocket Nos. 2121, 2134). On January 21, 2016, after the conclusion of Scheuer’s
casein-chief, the Court granted the motion in paseeDocket No. 2173; Jan. 21, 2016 Trial
Tr. 1285-1293).The next dayScheuer filed a notice of voluntary dismissiahis casewith
prejudice. $eeDocket Nos. 2169, 2170). On January 25, 2016 — the next business Hay — t
Cooper Plaintiffs filed theiMotion To Remove Co-Lead Counsel (Docket No. 2179) (the
“Removal Motion”). Two days later, they followed with their Motion for Reconsidaemadf the
Order Approving the Establishment of the 2015 New GM Ignition Switch QualifietBetit
Fund (Docket No. 2182) (the “QSF Motion”). Following briefing on the Cooper motieaai
Counsel filed a motion for a protective order on February 9, 2016, seeking to prohibit Cooper —
or any other attorney in the MDL om communicating with Hilliard’s and Henry’s clients in
violation of Rule 4.2(a) of the New York Rules of Professional Cond&#eljocket No. 2258).
E. Subsequat Developments

The second bellwether tridarthelemyand Spain v. General Motors LL.@ok place
between March 14 and 30, 2016. The Court granted summary judgment for New GM on some
of its claims; granted judgment as a matter of law in favor of New GM on Spandulent
misrepresentation clainand submitted Plaintiffs’ claims under the Louisiana Products Liability
Act to the jury. SeeDocket N. 2400, 2665, 2729). On March 30, 2016, the jury found that
Plaintiffs had proved by a preponderance of the evidence that the car at issue was unreasonably

dangerous because it deviated from manufacturing standards, andéb&eameral Motors

10



Corporation (NewGM'’s predecessor in intereggiled to provide an adequate warning of a
dangerous characteristic of the car; the jury did not find, however, that anyanaielgs
dangerous characteristic caused the injuries of eitflerti# and thus returned its verdict for
New GM. (SeeDocket No. 2691, Ex. 2 (verdict form)). Accordingly, on April 5, 2016, the
Court entered judgment in New GM'’s favor. (Docket No. 2741y0 days later, the parties
advised the Court that they haghched a settlement Yinglingand the case (which had been
scheduled for trial beginning on May 2, 2016) was removed from the trial cale&asDocket
Nos. 2754, 2755). The following day, with no explanation or warningRéwecase— the
fourth kellwether trial— was voluntarily dismissed with prejudice. (Docket Nos. 2756, 2758
DISCUSSION

As noted, this Opinion addresses three motions: the Cooper Plaintiffs’ Removal Motion
and QSF Motion and the Hilliard and Henry motion for a protective order. The Coubewif
with its explanation for the denial of the Cooper motions, first with a discussionyaheh
motions are untimely and, second, with a discussion of each motion on the merits. The Court
will then turn to the motion for a protective order. Finally, the Court will addrespé?’s own
continuing, albeit nominal, membership on the Plaintiff's Executive Committee.
A. Timeliness

As an initial mattertheCooper Plaintiffsmotions are patently untimely. The Cooper
Plaintiffs stylethe QSF Motion as a motion for reconsideration, but contend that the Removal
Motion “is an original motion, and not one asking for reconsideration.” (Cooper PIs.” Reply 11).
The Removal Motion, however, plainbgekseconsideratiomoo, at least to the extent it asks the
Court to undo its Orders establishing the bellwether selection process and appiectngnsef

the six bellwether caseAs motiors for reconsideration, both of the Cooper Plaintiffs’ motions

11



fall far outside the fourteen days prescribed by Local Civil Rule 6.3 for flingtice of motion
for reconsideration. SeeNew GM’s Opp’n 10. And even assuming the motions were timely,
neither motiorcomes close to medéntg the stringent standards for granting reconsideratsee,
e.g, Shrader v. CSX Transp., In@0 F.3d 255, 257 (2d Cir. 1995) (“The standard for granting
such a motion is strict, and reconsideration will generally be denied unless the mowyraapa
point to controlling decisions or data that the court overlooked), .Montanile v. Nat'| Broad.
Co, 216 F. Supp. 2d 341, 342 (S.D.N.Y. 2002) (“Reconsideration of a court’s previous order is
an extraordinary remedy to be employed sparingly in the interests ofyfiaatl conservation of
scarce judicial resours€) (internal quotation marks omittgd)That is the Cooper Plaintiffs
suggest no law or facts that the Court overlooked in issuing its prior osrse.g.Davidson
v. Scully 172 F. Supp. 2d 458, 461-62 (S.D.N.Y. 2001) (holding that new evidenoea basis
for reconsideration).

In any event,d the extenthatthemotions seek anything other theetonsideratioof
the Court’s prior orderghey are still untimely.Not being omniscient, courts must inevitably
rely on counsel to bring tileir attention problems and issues calling for court intervention.
That is, orderly litigation depends on lawyers raising issues and problemsielafashiona
failure to do so not only prevents a court from nipping problems in the bud, but also casts doubt
on whether the alleged problems wardéactso problematic. Those commesense principles
apply to any case, but they apply in spaddgi¢@mtion of this size and complexityPut simply,
for this litigation to proceed smoothly (as it largely Hasstfar), this Court cannot tolerate a
lawyer sitting on his hands and complaining long after the alleged caussescohiplaints.Yet
that is exactly what Coopéeid here. All of Cooper’s complaints relate to orders entered by the

Court and actions taken by Lead Counsel lbefpre he first raised thentor example, over

12



fourteen months passed between entiphefbellwethetrial order and Cooper’s motionsee
Docket No 422); almostseven months passed betweetualselection of the six bellwether
trials and his motionséeDocket No. 1114); more than four months padsstdveen when the
QSF settlement wdgst made public and Cooper’s motiorseéDocket No 1368); andhe
depositions and other discovery about which Cooper complains have beargmigee at least
December 22, 2014, thirteen months before his motseerder No. 20 (Docket No. 383), at 2
(directing that New GM’s Phase One document production would begin on December 22,
2014)). Cooper had ample opportunity to raise any concerns he had about these things in a
timely fashion: Rrsuant to Order No. 12, he could have requested to be heard at one of the
moreor-less monthly status conferences that tharCleas held, or he could have filed a motion
or letter at any time— as hemade clear he knows how to do in filing the instant motions.

In short, although Cooper was on notice ofvlag's in which he could be heard if he felt
that Lead Counsel was not acting in the interests gfatitiffs and has, in fact, made clear that
hecan make himself heard, he sat on his hands, voicing concerns only after theofiigh-
collapse of the first bellwether trial. Cooper’s failtwmanake himself heard soorisrall the
more striking because lmemselfwas appointed by the Court to thiaiRtiffs’ Executive
Committee and thus had various “duties and responsibilities” of his d&daeO(da Nos. 8, 13).
In an ironic twist, Cooper argues that Lead Counsel owed fiduciary duties laimtifis and
violated those duties in various waySeéCooper Pls.RemovalMem. 2, 5-6, 10-20; Cooper
Pls.” Reply 2-10). To the extent that is true, however, Cooper himself owed fiduciaytdutie
all plaintiffs as well, and thus had an obligation — above and beyond the obligatiamaffp’
lawyers not appointed to a leadership position — to raise the sorts of allegations he makes now

in a timely fashion. Having failed to do so, Cooper will not be heard to complain only after
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things went badly. Put simply, the Court will not countenance thabstvtonday-morning
guarterbackingin any case, let alone a case of this complexity and size. Accordingly, the
motionscan and are denied on timelinggsundsalone.
B. The Cooper Plaintiffs’ Contentions

In any event, eveputting aside the rigorous deadlines and standards for reconsideration
or the common-sense concerns of timeliness, the Cooper Plaintiffs do not haverdbfisis
for the relief they seek. Throughout theiotions, the Cooper Plaintiffs assert that Hilliard owes
all plaintiffs in theMDL fiduciary duties. $eeCooper Pls.RemovalMem. 10-20; Cooper PIs.’
Reply 38;id., Ex. 2 (‘Silver Decl.”), at[f21-22). Notably, however, they cite legal
authority for that proposition. They also fail to cite — and the Court has not fouandytegal
authority addressing the standard to be used in evaluating whether lead coongdétdistrict
litigation consolidated proceedings (or their equivalent) should be removed. dbstece of
such authority, it is tempting to look to the RaR class action context, where courts have
generally held that lead counsel should be removed only in “exceptional circumstanaes
“Agent Orange” Prod. Liab. Litig. MDL No. 381818 F.2d 179, 186-87 (2d Cir. 1987) (denying
a request to remove leadunsel where the movant had “failed even to suggest, much less
establish, any exceptional circumstances” that warranted removal, and lissiggelsted
nothing more than a difference of opinidiriternal quotation marks omitté¢g¥ee, e.g.Pigford
v. Veneman 355 F. Supp. 2d 148, 167 (D.D.C. 2005) (rejecéingption to remove class counsel
despite counsel’s “poor performance and missed deadlinegy; Oil Co. v. Wotco Corp95 F.
Supp. 2d 290, 325-27 (W.D. Pa. 1997) (declining to remove class coespée class
members’ dissatisfaction with a settlement because the plaintiffs had “faileahtibyiteny

concrete act of impropriety” (citinflaywalt v. Parker & Parsley Petroleum C6.7 F.3d 1072
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(2d Cir. 1995))cf. In re Am. Exp. Anti-Steering Ra Antitrust Litig, No. 1:MD-2221 (NGG)
(RER), 2015 WL 4645240, at *11-14 (E.D.N.Y. Aug. 4, 2015) (denying final class settlement
approval where class counsel had improperly disseminated the defendant’s cahfidenti
information and disclosed privileged work produ&ghoenbaum v. E.I. DuPont De Nemours
No. 05CV-1108 (ERW), 2008 WL 877962, at *1-2 (E.D. Mo. Mar. 27, 2008) (removing class
counsel who had been indicted for paying kickbacks to plaintiffs in odses

But the duties owed by lead counsel in the class action context are undoubtedly stronger
than the duties owed by Hilliard here. In the class context, lead counsel seoumsal for all
members of the class. Significantly, absentee class members do not havenrssparate
counsel; instead, they rely on counsel for the class to represent their snt8eseste.g Martens
v. Thomann273 F.3d 159, 173 n.10 (2d Cir. 2001) (noting fiduciary duties of class
representatives and class counsel towards other members of the clagsdsitis))Maywalt 67
F.3dat 1077-78 (“Both class representatives and class counsel have responsibilligesnto a
members of the class.”Here, by contrast, Hilliard does not serve as counsel for all personal
injury and wrongful death plaintiffs in the MDL; instead, each of those plaindifisgresented
by counsel of his or her choice, whether Hilliard or someone else (such as Coopers.ndha
to say that Hilliard does not have significant authorityasgs all personal injury and wrongful
deathplaintiffs. He plainly does, as he speaks on their behalf (to both New GM and the Court)
and has the authority to make any number of decisions that are binding, eithr titera
effectively, on all personal injury and wrongful death plaintiffs. Butontrast to absentee
members of a class action, the personal injury and wrongful death plainttifs MDL (at least
those who are not independentiypresented by Hilliajchave their own counsel. Those counsel

not only can, but per Order No. a4& required tomonitor the progress of the litigatioAnd
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those counsel have various means at their disposal to ensure that the rights estd oftéreir
clients are protected in the event that they believe Hilhasitaka steps that are not in their
clients’ interest. It follows thatvhile the duties Hilliard owes to personal injury and wrongful
death plaintiffs represented by other counsel are significant, they arestairggas the duties
that lead counsel owes tbsentee members of a class action. From that premise, it follows
furtherthat the standard for removal of counsel is at least as demanding here as ie & Rul
context, and probably even more demanding.

Ultimately, the Court need not resolve whether or to what extent the standarddearem
here is more demanding than the standard for removal in the Rule 23 context becaoseéhe C
Plaintiffs fail to meeeven the Rule 23 standard. Specifically, their (sometimes wild)
accusations do not withstand scrutiny, and certainly do not rise to the level that watifydhe
drastic relief that they seek. Notably, the force of their arguments isicagiy undermined by
the fact that they no longer seek to remove all three Lead Counsel. (As noted, irptheiney
make clear that they levy their charges only at Hilliard, in his capacitgas Counsel with
primary responsibility for personal injury and wrongful death cases, and do nob seatot/e
Berman and CabraserSdeCooper PIs.” Reply 2 n.1).) In doing so, they implicitly concede that
there is no basis to accuse Berman and Cabraser of violating their dutaaatttigowrit large.
Yet Berman, Cabraser, and Hilliard were appointe@@akeadCounsel and have acted together
throughout thditigation. Although Hilliard has taken primary responsibility for personal ynjur
and wrongful death cases, the three Co-Lead Counsel have closely coordinatéfbtteeir e
throughouthe litigation, submitting joint letters and briefs, working together to complete
discovery, appearing at all conferences, and participating in the tria bfghbellwether. Had

Hilliard breached his duties to the MDL plaintiffs, Berman and Cabraser would undoubtedly
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have known about it and arguably would have had their own duty to bring the breach to the
Court’s attention. The fact that they did not — and the fact that the Cooper Plaintiffsel@not
argue that they should have — is, in and of itself, reason to,dbuabt reject,the Cooper
Plaintiffs’ charges.

With that, the Court turns to the Cooper Plaintiffs’ allegations. Ht@gk Lead
Counsel’s conduct on three fronts: (1) pretrial discoagiy management of the MDL,;
(2) bellwether trial selection; and (3) the QSF settlemditie Court addresseach inturn.

1. Discovery and MDL Management

First, the Cooper Plaintiffs (through Cooper, on whose declaration they place sole
reliancefor these purposes (Cooper Pls.” Replgée id, Ex. 1 (“CoopeRemoval Decl.))
allege that Lead Counsel failed to inclugbeecutive Committee members in discussions about
important issues in the MDIséeCooper RemovdDecl.  4), limited state court counsel’s
ability to participate at MDL depositionsdeid. 1 5),“siloed” Executive Committee members
with respect to depositions and document discovery (Cooper Pls.” Removal Mem. 7), and
“consistently attempted to thwart efforts by the state court lawyers to catadire prosecution
of the coordinated actionsid( at8). Again, the Cooper Plaintiffs provide no evidence othe
thanCooper’s own say-stat such behavior occurred a sayso that is even harder to credit
given that Cooper, by his own admission, has been largely uninvolved with the work of the MDL
since at least April 2015.SéeCooperRemoval Decl. 1-5). Tellingly, not one of the

hundreds of other lawyers representing plaintiffs in the MDL or in parallel stateedings —
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and nonef the other nine members of the Executive Committeieined Cooper in making his

motions or submitted affidavits in suppofthis factual allegations. That silence is deaferfing.
Additionally, Cooper’s allegatiorsrecontradictedy Federal/State Liaison Cosel

Dawn Barrioswho attestshat significant efforts have been made to coordinate discovery and

information with counsel in Coordinated Actions, including a system for sharing docuameht

deposition schedulesgeDecl. Dawn M. Barrios Supp. Co-Lead Counsel’'s Mem. Opp’n

(Docket No. 2207y 4), that sate counsel were invited participate at depositioriseeid.  6),

and that Lead Counsel have done nothing to obstruct the coordination of state proceedings, but

rather had been helpful and supportisedid. § 8) Cooper'sallegations aréurtherbelied by

several other facts: e fact that no lawyers, including counsel in stadert actions, raised

any concerns with the Court despite thechanisms available to do @eOrder No 12, at 6-7;

LC’s Opp’n 22-23)by the fact that Boies Schiller, a firm not affiliated with Lead Counsel (but

one of whose partners, {dd Boies, is a member of the Executive Committem)k thelead in

trying theBarthelemy/Spaibellwether; andy the sheer amount of work counsel has

accomplishedmuch of which was performed by members of the Executive Committee or their

firms: over ahundreddepositions (Hilliard Decl. I 8; Berman Decl.){ #eview and production

of millions of pages of documents (Berman Decl.  4); and the legal re$ehdbriefing of,

forty-plus motionsn limine, two summary judgment motionand multipleDaubertmotions

2 On the other hand, the Cooper Plaintiffs and their expert make much of the factwhat Ne
GM filed a brief opposing the MotionsSéeCooper Pls.” Reply 2; Silver Decl. { 3). Tew

GM would oppose the Motions is hardly surprising as the Motions threatened to undo months of
work that New GM put into the settlement and bellwether processes. Furthermar&Ni

makes clear that it takes no position on the “aspects of the motions that aeddipscifically

at Lead Counsel.” (New@'s Opp’'n 1).
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(Berman Decl. 1-%). Indeedas of the date Coopensotionswere fully briefed, Executive
Committeemembers and Liaison Counsel had spent approximately fifty thousand hours on
document review, depositions, and trial preparatsamce then, that time has doubtgrown
substantially (SeeDecl. Elizabeth JCabraseGSupp. Co-Lead Counsel’'s Mem. Op§8).

It is inevitable in litigation of this size and complexity that there teitisions among
plaintiffs’ counsel — whose intestsare mostly aligned, but sometimes competi@gven that,
and with the benefit of 20/20 hindsight, it is no doubt easy to critstinee decisions that Lead
Counsel have made in this complex and mfalteted litigation and to present select exampfes
the push and pull among high-powered plaintiffs’ counsel that could appear unseemly. In the
final analysis, however, the Court is not persuatiatthe tensions and conflicts here were
anything more than thendrmal give and take of any MDL.” (CoapRemoval Decl. ).
Notably, Coopehimselfseems to acknowledge as much, statinghisaallegations about the
general management of the MDL “were not the reason for filing the MotioenwmRe but were
provided as background to give this Court context as to what led up to the selection of the
bellwether trials” ando the events dbcheuer (Id.). Even as background alone, however, his
unsupported claims are no more persuasive in suggesting there was anyphapgemn the

bellwether selgwn process, discussed beldw.

3 In his declaration submitted on reply, Cooper makes allegations and attachédaait aff

to the effect that Hilliard offered to pay a prospective client, Deirdre Betat) in exchange for

a contract to represent heSeeCooper RemouaDecl. { 6). As an initial matter, the Court will

not consider evidence or argument introduced for the first time in a 18ph;,. e.gConn. Bar

Ass’n v. United State$20 F.3d 81, 91 n.13 (2d Cir. 201Q)pffi v. Averill Park Cent. Sch. Dist.

Bd. of Educ.444 F.3d 158, 169 (2d Cir. 2006). Additionally, the evidence supplied (namely, the
Betancourt affidavit) does nattuallysupport Cooper’s insinuation that Hilliard offered to pay
Betancourt to represent heSeeCooper Pls.” Reply, Ex. 8BetancourtDecl), at16-8; Cooper
Removal Decl{ 6).
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2. The BellwetherTrial Selections
The hearbf the Cooper Plaintiffs’ Removal Motias thatLead Counsel violated their

presumed fiduciary duties to the MDL plaintiffs by not choosingblest” cases to be
bellwethersand then,by switching the order of the cases so Miaglingwas not first. $ee
Cooper Pls.RemovalMem. 10-20; Cooper Pls.” Reply Mem 83- Many of the parameters of
the bellwether selection process, however, were put in place by the Court. mpieitike
Cooper Plaintiffs criticize Lead Counsel for selecting the bellwethersebttfe Feinberg Claims
Facility had run its courses¢eCooper Pls.Removal Mem. 8), but the deadline for choosing
the cases was set by Orders of this Cage(e.g.Order M. 25). Additionally, the Cooper
Plaintiffs allege that one of the failings of the bellwether selections was the failum@ude any
state case See, e.g.Cooper Pls.RemovalMem. 9, 10, 20; CoopdkemovalDecl. | 4). But
they offer no authority — and the Court is not aware of any — for the proposition that a cas
pending in state court could be tried as a bellwether case in a federal MDL. Ireatyodver
than trying to ensure that the first ignition switch case tried would be one inDhgtdl allow
for this Court to take the lead on deciding big picture issues that would be applicable to
numerous cases), this Court has not discouraged state courts from settingesiad dgatition
switch cases— precisely on the theory thatich trialsserve as the functional equivalent of
bellwethers. $eeOrder No. 95 (Docket No. 2263), Ex. A). Notably, as of February 10, 2016,
there were at leasiventymore trials relating to the ignition switch defect scheduled to begin
beforeDecember 4, 2017, state courts— one of which involves Cooper andneof which
involve Lead Counsel.Seed. at 23 & n.2;id., Ex. A). In light of the fact that New GM faces

twenty-five some odd trials (and counting), against a wide array of plaintiffs’ lssaayed with
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different facts, to focus on the outcome of a single trial in the MDL — as the Colapetiffs
largely do —is tomyopicallymiss the forest for a single tree.

More specifically, the Cooper Plaintiffs’ accusations of-deléling on Hiliard’s part in
selecting and ordering the bellwether tri@sstheir mark. The Cooper Plaintiffs criticize
Hilliard for the fact that five of the six bellwethers involved his own clienBeeCooper Pls.’
Removal Mem. 9Cooper Pls.” Reply# In doing so, however, they overlook the fact that the
percentage of Hilliard’s clients that peoposeds early trial candidatéeaamely,three of the
five plaintiffs’ picks, or60%) wadower than the percentage of plaintiffs that Hilliard represents
in the MDL as a wholgapproximately 75%). SeeL.C’s Opp’n 14)* The Cooper Plaintiffs also
criticize the selection dbcheuens a bellwether trial arthe decision tdry it first, asserting that

“[i ]t is axiomatic that plaintiffs’ counsel always want to try their best case first ih MD

4 The Cooper Plaintiffsantend that Hilliard represengsich a large share of the plaintiff

pool onlybecause he flooded the MDL with meritless cas8geCooper Pls.” Removal Mem.
19). Admittedly, events since Cooper filed his Motions and the Court’s bditterdrder
denying them— namely, the outcome of thigarthelemy/Spaitrial and the abrupt dismissal of
theReidcase, both of which were Hilliard caseslend some credence to 8econtentions.

But they still do not justify the drastic step of removal for several reasarss$, Vthout
evidence that Hilliard’s cases are outliersthat is, without evidence that there are many
stronger cases- the mere fact that some of Hillidsdcases have problems or weaknesses
proves little or nothing. Among other things, New GM settled hundreds of cases, indading
wrongful death cases, through the Feinberg Claims Resolution Procesgweihbe that the
personal injury and wrongfulecth claims left over that form the MDL are, for the most part,
cases with problems of one sort or another (such as weak proof of causation or lo@sjlamag
Second, even if Hilliard subjected his clients’ claims to less scrutinyGbaper or other
plaintiffs’ counsel would have subjected them, that alone does not constitute improptiety, le
alone impropriety that would call for his removal; Cooper does not allege, for exdngple
Hilliard violated Rule 11 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure in filing anysofdses, let
alone that he committed fraud. Finally, it bears noting that, even if Hilliardrewreved as
Lead Counsel, the cases he filed would still be in the MDL. That is, to the exteGbtizr
fairly identifies a problem, removing Hilliard would not provide a remedy fomistelad, the
remedy would be adding or substituting new cases to be tried as bellwetlBeraething that
the Court has itself indicated may be worthwhil8edFebruary 23, 2016 Conf. Tr. 3741
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litigation.” (Cooper Pls.Removal Mem10, 15-18; Cooper PIs.” Reply®- Butif by “best,”
the Cooper Plaintiffs mean “most likely to result in a large plaisti#€rdict,” that proposition is
by no means “axiomatic.After all, because thprimary purpose of bellwether trials is to
provide data points for settlement discussimith respect tdhe universe of casgthe goal is to
select the “bestfepresentaties of the universef casesnot outliers likely to result in victory for
one side or the other. To that end, the Order setting up the bellwether selectios ghiciatsl
that the bellwether selections be “representative” clairfBee@rder No. 25, at 9-10)See also
MANUAL FOR COMPLEX LITIGATION (Fourth) § 22.315 (Fed. Judicial Ctr. 2004) (noting that if
bellwether trials “are to produce reliable information about other massases, the specific
plaintiffs and their claims should be representabifihe range of cases”); Rothsteat,al,
MANAGING MULTIDISTRICT LITIGATION IN PRODUCTSLIABILITY CASES A POCKET GUIDE FOR
TRANSFEREEJUDGES 44 (Fed. Judicial Ctr. 2011) (“If bellwether trials are to produce reliable
information about the other cases in the MDL, the specific plaintiffs and themwsckhould be
representative of the range of caseg=3llon,et al, Bellwether Trials in Multidistrict Litigation
82 TuL. L. Rev. 2323, 2348 (2008) (arguing that the random selection method should be
disfavored for bellwether trials because “[i]f cases are selected at random, thegaiggartee
that the cases selected to fill the tisalection pool will adequately represent the major
variables”)

From that perspective, putting aside the problentsuitianately resulted in its dismissal
(problems, as the Court has made clear elsewhere, for which Lead Courssbbaablame),
Scheuemwas arguably just as good as, if not a bettetlwethercandidate thaiingling the only
case the Cooper Plainsftite as an comparatoAmong other thingsscheuela personal injury

case)appears tthavebeenmore representative of cases in the MibanYingling (a wrongful
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death cage— perhaps a result of the number ayyoes of cases thatere resolved througihe
Feinberg Claims Facility. SeeNew GM’s Opp’n 1112; seealsoLC’s Opp’n 12-13discussing
the perceivednerits ofScheuey, New GM’s Opp’n 12 n.24discussing some weaknesses of
Yingling)). Moreover, @enif Scheuewas a “weaker” case than sombéats, Lead Counsel
couldhave reasonably calculated that a win in such awaskl provide an even stronger
inducement to New GNb settle the rest of the casetnd finally, in the Court’s viewit is not
inappropriate for Lead Counsel to consider &actor in selecting the bellwethers and in
moving Scheueto the first trial position— Hilliard’s involvement at triglgiven hisgreater
familiarity with discovery (including depositions of experts and New Gihegises), with the
Court, and with opposing counsebeelLC’s Opp’n 15 & n.21 Berman Decl. I Hilliard Decl.

1 22). In fact, he Court would have been somewhat surprised had Hitiairdeen trialcounsel
in the first bellwethegiven his deep knowledge of the casel greater familiarity with the Court
and its proceduredJltimately, despite the unforeseen end to 8oheuetrial, the case provided
value in the progress that was made with respetietbellwether trials generally: the Court’s
rulings on motionsn limine, which will apply in future trials, the preparation of expert reports

andDaubertmotions, and the development of procedures for handling evidentiary disputes.

5 Similarly, although these motions were fully briefed beforeBhghelemy/Spaitrial

took place, the fact that that trial resulted in a “loss” for Plaintiffs does nat thatthe trial

was not valuable to other plaintiffs and the MDL as a whalf. Gooper Pls.” Removal Mem.
18-20 (accusing thBartheleny/Spaincase of being weak)). The second bellwether trial allowed
the Court and the parties to further refine trial procedures and decide questams (ee, e.qg.
Docket Nos. 2346, 2362, 2364, 2396). And while the jury found in favor of New GM on
causation, it also found that the car at issue was unreasonably dangerous becdesscband

a failure to warn, &inding that may well help other plaintiffs in settlement negotiations with
New GM and advance the MDL as a who(8eeDocket No. 2691, EXx. 2).
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To be sureScheuemas not originally chosen as the first bellwethely+rglingwas—
andthe Cooper Plaintiffs’ allegations about why and how Hilliard proposed to switch thre orde
are somewhat troubling. That is, Hilliard could have — and probably should have — handled
the situation mordetftly, if only to avoid the appearance of impropriety (and exposure to
allegations of the sort that Pribanic made and Cooper is now maBog)he evidence does not
ultimatelysupport the Cooper Plaintiffs’ aggressive accusations otlsaling. Hilliard and
Pribanicplainly had discussionsith respect tarying Yinglingtogether, and it is apparent that
fees formed @art of that discussion.SéePribanicDecl. {1 7, 10; Hilliard Decl. §{ 14-17). But
from the contemporaneous evidencapipearshat Hilliard’s principal “request” was to try the
case together, not for a share of the fg€geBerman Decl. 1 9 (indicating that the reason to
placeScheuefirst was because Lead Counsel “strongly feel that the first trialsdbeul
conducted by co lead counsé!l”)n particular, Pribanic declined propostashare fees with
Hilliard as early as August 20Bhd certainly by April 2015.SeePribanic Decl. § 7Hilliard
Decl. 11 1516;id., Exs. 45). In spite of that refusal, howevéead Counsel still selected
Yinglingas one of the bellwether casewd, indeed, initially positioned it first.

By contrast, the communicatiobstween Hilliard and Pribanin thesummerof 2015 —
which may well have precipitated Lead Counsel’s request to switch the orffiehefieand
Yingling— focusdon whether the two lawyers would try the cases together, rfeeen See
Pribanic Decl. { 8d., Ex. 1). As discussed, however, it would not be improper to switch the
bellwether order to ensure that Lead Counsel was involved i tihyafirst case, and the
evidenceadoes not suppothat anything more than thad¢t aloneanything invidious, took place.
And notably, the alternative, “maximizing fee” theory advanced by the Coopetiffdaand

their expertProfessoCharlesSilver — that Hilliard movedyinglingout of the first trial slot
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because he would not share in the trial fees from thateasakes littlesense given that
Scheuemwould have been tried regardlesSe€Cooper Pls.RemovalMem. 13-14; Cooper PIs.’
Reply 56; Silver Decl. 11 30-32 That is, for Hilliard’s purposes, there would ldde or no
real financial difference betweachedulingScheuefirst or third (or even fiftl), as he was
effectively guaranteed the fees from that trial whenever it happdhethct, Pribanic himself
noted as much in his August 3, 2015 letter to Hilliard declining Hilliard’s request tioetigase
together. $eePribanic Decl., Ex. ]1)

In short, the Cooper Plaintiffs provide an insufficient basis for dterckon the
sdection of the bellwether casasdfail to justify disruptng the bellwether trial schedule that
hasbeen in place for many months. Further, to disrupt that schedule now would prejudice the
parties— including the Cooper Plaintiffs — given the extensive discovery and planning that
have already gone into the remaintag cases

3. The QSF

That leaveshe QSF Motion, in which the Cooper Plaintiéisntend that the Hilliard
New GMsettlement harmed the other MDL plaintiéfied ask the Court to “[c]Jonduct an inquiry
into the settlements . . . and Mr. Hilliard’s potential conflicts related to these seitteme

including the decision by Mr. Hilliard and GM to enter into the Hml-agreements in the

6 As indicated at the February 23, 2016 status conference and as noted above, the Court is
open to rethinking the bellwether process, including rearranging or substitugesy should

better alternaties present themselvetSeeFebruary 23, 2016 Conf. Tr. 37¥41n light of the
settlement and dismissal ¥inglingandReid(seeDocket Nos. 2755, 2758), and as indicated

during the telephone conference held on April 8, 2016, the parties should be prepared to discuss
revisions or additions to the bellwether schedule at the April 20, 2016 status conference.
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bellwether cases.” (Cooper Pls.” Reply &8eid. at 89; Cooper Pls.” QSF Mem. 9).As an

initial matter,the Cooper Plaintiffs point to no authority suggesting, let alone holdiagatlead

counsel outside of the Rule 2R&ss actiortontext cannotreely settle his or her own cases. It

would be one thing if the QSF were tied to a limited fumtlat was the issue @rtiz v.

Fibreboard Corp, 527 U.S. 815 (19994 case cited by Professor SilveGe€Silver Decl.

1911-12). In a limited fund situationthe potentiatonflict of interest between lead counsel’s

own clients and other plaintiffs could be a significant issue and the court may weh hale to

play. See, e.gOrtiz, 527 U.S. at 855That mayeven be the case outside the Rule 23 context, to

ensure that a race to the courthouse door (or, more prettstig, settlement table), does not

leave some litigants out in the cold. But there is no suggdsti@mthat New GM’s ability to

satisfy any and all potential judgments is limitdtb the contrary, evidence at tiseheuetrial

indicated that New GM’s net worth is $35.4 billion, which is presumably more than ermugh t

satisfy any judgments entered against it in the M(keelan. 21, 2016 Trial Tr. 1260-64¢ee

alsoNew GM’s Opp’n 1112 (noting thaho cap was placed on the Feinberg Claims Faqility)
Notably, the Courtlirectly asked Lead Counsel and counselNew GM at the October

9, 2015 status conference a—<onference held after the fact of Hettlement had been public for

almost a month — whether anyone else should be given an opportunity to be heard and whether

there was any potential prejudice to rsmitling parties. eeOct. 9, 2015 Conf. Tr. 42-43, 45).

Counsel assured the Court that there was no issue of limitedaesoand New GM reiterated

! A “high/low agreementis a form of “conditional settlementi whichthe parties agree

that if the jury reahes a verdict outsidespecified range, the “high” of the rangeuld serve as
a cap on damages, whereas the “low” of the range would serve as a floor for guaranteed
recovery. See Leibstein v. LaFarge N. Am., |[ri&67 F. Supp. 2d 373, 376 (E.D.N.Y. 2011);
Cunha v. Shapira837 N.Y.S.2d 160, 163 (2d Dep’t 2007).
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its willingness to discuss settlement with all plaintiffSegd. at 45). Presumablyif therehad
beenany legitimate concern that the settlement could prejudiceseatting partiesBerman and
Cabraser would have had ey@ncentive to aise thassue given that the damages sought by the
economic loss plaintiffs for whom they reprimary responsibility excedle claims of any
individual personal injury or wrongful death plaintify a large margin; yet, they raised no
concern, let alone objection, to the settlement. Galethat there is no basis to conclude that
the settlement caused any prejudice to-settling plaintiffs. And giverthat, there is no law or
logic for the proposition that Lead Counsel cannot s#tde own cases— or alternatively, as
Professor Silver suggests, to require them to step down as Lead Counsetliddineyosettle
some of their own casesSdeSilver Decl. § 13). Indeed,anything such a rulevould be a
serious disincentive for any lawyer to seek a lead counsel position in thediestage and would
do a disservice to the interests of plaintiffs as a whole.

The Cooper Plaintiffs’ final salvo is that Hilliard “cut a secret deal with GM” by
negotiating high/low agreements in Hilliard’s five bellwether casexchange for settlement of
the rest of his casesSé€eCooper Pls.” QSF Mem. 8-9; Cooper Pls.” Reply 8-Bhe fact of the
settlement, however, was anything but secret; it was aeedun a public letter and press
release, and Hilliard notified the Executive Committee about it direcBgeHilliard Decl.
1133-35). And while most terms of the settlement have not been made thailis, because

the Courtgranted leave to keepehierms under seal (without opposition, it should be noted,

8 Notably, Cooper — although appointed by the Court to the Plaintiffs’ Executive
Committee— confidentiallysettled one ofiisown cases with New GMJlelton v. General
Motors LLG in March 2015. He provides no explanation for why a private settlement was
acceptable for him but is not acceptable for Lead Counsel.
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from the Cooper Plaintiffs or anyone else); that is, when Hilliard and New Gbtiatagl their
settlement, they did not necessarily know whether its terms would remainestisfid See
Docket Nb. 2255 (giving any party opposed to maintaining the settlement documents under seal
an opportunity to be heard); Docket No. 2391 (weighing the parties’ interest in confitientia
against the interest in public access to judicial documents and finding that theedtxoould
remain under segl) More specifically, the fact that Hilliard and New Gévitered into high/low
agreementwith respect to the bellwether cases, and carved them out of the settlernardlyis
a“stunning revelatiori (Cooper Pls.” QSF Mem. 8). Lead Coun@etluding Berman and
Cabraserpnd New GM informed the Court of the agreem@ntsameraon November 20, 2015.
(SeeHilliard Decl.  37,;New GM’s Opp’n, Ex. 1 (Miller Decl.”) { 40). And given the amount
of work the parties had done to prepare the bellwether cases for trial, and thatfdobse trials
were ultimatelyintended to benefit the MDL process as a whole, it is hardly surprising that
counsel would havkeft them out of the sBément.

More fundamentally, the Cooper Plaintiffs cite (and the Court has found) no aufbority
the proposition that high/low agreements — agreements that are not unusual in American
litigation, see, e.g.Prescottet al, Trial and Settlement: A Study of High-L&greementss7
J.L & Econ. 699, 700-01 (2014) — are improper. NorlgoG@ooper Plaintiffs citanyauthority
for the proposition that, eventtiere were evidence that the high/low agreements pateof
somelargerquid pro quo(and there is no such evidence), the Court would hava badis to

disapprove the parties’ private settlement or deny the QSF nfotMwtably,while the Cooper

o If there were evidence that the agreements were part ofgaichero quoand that
counsel had sought and obtained benefits for some clients at the expense of ahlrerhéag is
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Plaintiffs stress the benefits of the high/lagreementto New GM,they ignore the
countervailing benefit® the plaintifs who entered them -ramely thatthe agreements
presumably guarantee them some recovery, even if they wiersetat trial (as Barthelemy and
Spain did). They also ignore why such agreements are particularly sensible irCthe M
bellwether context: By minimizing the risks to both sides of going to trial,itleegase the
probability that the choserases will actually go to trial and yielgseful data for purposes
settling other cases in the MDISeeMiller Decl. 11 3940).1° That is, a jury verdict in such a
casewould still accurately reflect thease’s “valug¢ even ifthat value ishot the amount the
plaintiff takes home or New GM has to paw short, the Cooper Plaintiffs present no basis to
undo the voluntargettlement between Hilliard and New GM as they fail to articulate any way in
which they, or any other plaintiffs in the MDL, were harmed by it. To the conthay, t
settlement is likely only to benefit other plaintiffs, as New GM has repgagdressedts
willingness to negotiate settlements with other coursss@ct. 9, 2015 Conf. Tr. 4%Jew

GM’s Opp’n 1 n.2), and the settlement provides a template and a benchmark for setifement

other cases with New GM.

not), that would certainlyaise colorabl@rofessional ethics issues. But those issues would not
necessarily be with this Court’s purview.

10 As a matter of common sense, the existence of a high/low agreement makdiéliess

that the parties will settle as the risks are cabined on both $gesontrast, in the absence of
such an agreement, parties are more likely to settle, even after investingdisreeagy to
prepare for trial.Yingling (with respect to which there is no evidence or suggestion that the
parties entered a high/low agreement) is a good example of that, as thesp#tadsonly after
fully briefing more than fifteen motions and investing substantially in prepasator trial. That
may be good for Plaintiff itYingling (and New GM), but it does little to advance the MDL.
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C. The Motion for a Protective Order
Prompted by Cooper’'s communications with MORiptiffs in conjunction withhis
motions, Hilliard and Henry move for a protective order that prohibits Cooparany other
attorney in the MDL —rom communicating with Hilliard’s and Henry’s clients in violatidn o
Rule 4.2(a) of the New York Rules of Professional ConduseelDocket No. 2258 Hilliard
contends that Cooper has communicated, directly or indirectly, with three af¢Hdlcurrent
clients: LeAnn Storcland two unnamed clientsS¢eMem. Law Supp. Hilliard Munoz &
Gonzales LLP’s & Thomas J. Henry Injury Attorneys’ Mot. ProtectiveeD(@ocket No. 2259)
(“Protective Order Mem.”) B; Reply Mem. Law Further Supp. Hilliard Munoz & Gonzales
LLP’s & Thomas J. Henry Injury Attorneys’ Mot. Protective Order (Dodket 2303)
(“Protective Order Reply"2-6, 7 n.9). Cooper admits that he or a member of his firm attempted
to get in touch with Storck, and spoke on the phone with someone who is likely one of Hilliard’s
two unnamed clients. SgeeCooper Firm’s Response Hilliard Munoz & Gonzales LLP’s &
Thomas J. Henry Injury Attorneys’ Mot. Protective Order (Docket No. 2¢8%ptective Order
Opp’'n”) 8-12;id., Ex. 2 (“Lundrigan Decl.”) 11 10, 15). He contends, however, that he has not
run afoul of Rule 4.2 because he did not knovséhparties were represented by Hilliardd that
hehas not contacted anyone known to be a current cliSeeP{otective Order Opp’n 4, 8-12).
Rule 4.2(aktates that “[i]n representing a client, a lawyer shall not communicate @ caus
another to communicate about the subject of the representation with a party trekiagwys to
be represented by another lawyer in the matter” without the consent of the wijearda other
legal authorization. N.Y. R. Profl Conduct 4.2(a). Notably, the Rule prohibits communicating
with, not merely contacting, a represented party, and indeed Comment Three tcetheakes

clear that the prohibition “applies even though the represented party initiat@ssents to the
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communcation.” Id., cmt. 3. Furthermore, althougfire Rule applies to parties the lawyer
“knows to be represented,” a “lawyer cannot evade the requirement of obtainconseat of
counsel by ignoring the obvious” when it comes to the fact of representatipnmt. 8. Nor
can the lawyer “make a communication prohibited by paragraph (a) through toé @utsher.”
Id., cmt. 10.

Given the foregoing principles, Cooper’s protestations of propriety are infinvoin t
ways First, he repeatedgmphasizethat neither he nor argmployee of his firm hasitiated
contactwith a represented partyS¢eProtective Order Opp’n 4, 8, 9, 1d;, Ex. 1 (“Cooper
Prot. OrdeDecl.”) 11 3, 5; Lundrigan Decl. 1%3. As noted, however, the Rule is broader
than that, and applige anycommunicationwithout regard for whether the lawyer or client
initiated it There is no dispute that Cooper’s paralegal, Doreen Lundagammunicated with
a current client, and Cooper (via Lundrigan) caused Laura Christian to commuwitba&torck.
(SeeLundrigan Decl. 11 10, 15; Protective Order Mem., Ex. B 1 7-9). Second, Cooper contends
that his firm did not know that either party was represeréeélone by Hilliarduntil afterthe
communicabn had occurred. SeeProtective Order Opp’'n 3, 6-8, 11; Cooper Prot. Ofkszl.

19 34; Lundrigan Decl. 1 9, 11, 15). But Cooper did know the names of the parties at the time
of the communications, aradquick searclhon PACER wouldchaveyieldedthe dentity of

counsel —revealing, for example, that Storck is a plaintifthe MDL and 14CV-8176(JMF)
andcurrently represented by Hilliard. Thegems tantamount to “ignoring the obvious.”

Cooper and his firm thus arguably violated Rule 4.2(a), leaat came very close to the
line. That said, @ither incident seems to have cadisignificant harm, and the communications
came in the context of theotions discussed above. Now thatsémotionshave beemlecided

— andthe Court has clarifiethe sope of Rule 4.2 — the Court sees no need for a protective
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order and trusts that Cooper and his firm (not to mention other lawyers in thewiDic¢ad
more carefully when communicating with potentially represented paffies.Court admonishes
all counseto err on the side of caution and reminds therst, that knowing violations of
ethical rules could obviously result@ardisciplinary proceedings and, secotidit any
evidence obtained in violation of ethical rules may be deemed inadmissiihl®rdtective
Order Mem. 5 n.6 (“Movants anticipate that Mr. Cooper may yet try to benefit fiomdhation
of the no-contact rule.”); Protective Order Opp’'n 9 n.6 (“TCF geryi@epects there to be more
such calls to TCF and other lawyer}.”bee, e.gScott v. Chipotle Mexican Grill, IndNo. 12-
CV-8333 (ALC) (SN), 2014 WL 4852063, at *2 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 29, 2014) (noting tieat
Court of Appeals has found exclusion of evidence to be within the arsenal of remvadeda
to district judges confronted with ethical violations” (internal quotation marks on)ittétie
motion for a protective order is accordingly DENIED.
D. Cooper’'s Membership on the Executive Committee

One final issue demands the Court’s attention: Cooper’'s membership Plaithtefs
Executive Committeelf anyone has abdicated or violateid fiduciary duties to the MDL
plaintiffs in this case, it is Cooper himselfo be clear, that is not because he filed his motions
(although his wild accusations have arguably dmsrauch, if notmore harm to faintiffs’ cause
than the collapse of the first bellwether, which was an embarrassing butaeymetback)but
because— by his own admissions -ke has flagrantly failed to satiskys “duties and
responsibilities’as an Exeutive Committee membefOrder No. 13, at 597 Cooper applied
for a position on the Executive Committee, was appointed, and assumed the duties set forth i
Order No. 13, including assisting Lead Counsel with pretrial work and working to cohduct t

MDL on behalf of all @intiffs. By his own admission, he hast fulfilled any of thosealuties
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for at least a year and, until his motiondailed to share that wittihe Court let alone seethe
Court’s permission to step down from the Comedtt(lt should be noted, neither did Lead
Counsel or other members of the Committee). Whether or not Cooper annourfteuak
resignation,” it was not for him to decide tlmed neglect waor the“best” because “[n]ine law
firms were still on the E@nd working on the GM litigation” and their work was sufficient.
(CooperRemovalDecl. 1 7). Order No. 8 made clear that leadership appointments were
personal, not on behalf of law firms, atiéywere made pursuant to the Orders of this Court.

In the Caurt’s view, it isplainly contrary to the interest of plaintiffs for someone who has
abdicated his own responsibilities to remain in a leadership role or occupgesstap position,
even if only in name. Accordingly, and to resolve any doubt about his involvement going
forward, the Court hereby formally remow@soper from the Executive Committee to the extent
that he nominally remains associated withTid be clearCooper’s removalk nota sanction for
filing his motions, even if those motiongreultimately without merit; it is based on his own
admitted failure to fulfil the basic duties and responsibilities of his posi{ibmat said, it is
important to ensure that counsel in leadersbigscan work together; Cooper’'s motions speak
for themselves in making clear thatdannot work with Hilliard. Lead Counsel shall confer
with the remaining members of the Executive Committee and advise thenGdatér than
April 18, 2016, whetherthey believe that Cooper’s vacancy should be filled. Itsad
Counsel should propose a process for such appointment and should be prepared to address the
issue at the next status conference, scheduled for April 20, 2016.

CONCLUSION
Multi-district litigation of this sort is a complex affair. With so much dtesta in terms

of money, ego, and otherwise — it is hardly surprising that conflicts would erupt aoongel,
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even counsel who are ostensibly on the same “side” and share a common adversary.
Nevertheless, the Court finds it regrettable that Cooper levied his broadsioest bgad

Counsel in the way he did, rather than taking steps in a more measured and productive (not to
mention timely) manner to address or raise any problems that he perceiveuer Wwartls,
assuming there is any merit to his alleégas, he did himself — and, by extension, the plaintiffs

in the MDL —a disservice by waiting to raise them until after the (admittedly embarrassing)
collapse of the Plaintiff's case in ti&eheuetrial and then raising them in the way he did.
Through its bottom-line Order and this more detailed Opinion, the Court hopes that anyo€louds
uncertainty hovering over the status of Lead Counsel, the bellwether trial slatiithe

pending settlemeritave been liftedthereby promoting the orderly management oMid. and
additional settlementsThe Court also hopes that plaintiffs’ counsel will stop litigating their
grievances with one another and return to focusing on their common adversary, Nend@m, a
obtaining relief for their respective clients. That is, the Court hopes thatetewrand their
clients— can return to focusing on what is truly at stake in this litigation: determining whethe
and to what extent the plaintiffs in these proceedings are entitled to reliefuioes caused by

the acknowledged ignition switch defect in millions of General Motors cars.

The Clerk of Court is directed to terminate Docket No. 2258.

SO ORDERED.

Dated: April 12, 2016 Cﬁ& pi %/—
New York, New York ESSE M—FURMAN

nited States District Judge
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